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  The drama, indeed the tragedy, of history, comes from our understanding the tension that existed between the conscious wills and intentions of the participants in the past and the underlying conditions that constrained their actions and shaped their future.


  – Nathan A Finn


  The biographies of men and women, the kinds of individuals they variously become, cannot be understood without reference to the historical structures in which the milieu of their everyday life are organised.


  – C Wright Mills, quoted in Charles van Onselen, The Small Matter of a Horse


  We have an obligation to place historical figures in the context of their times and to accord them what they, in some instances, did not accord others: understanding.


  – Richard Cohen, quoted in Harold Evans, Do I Make Myself Clear?


  
    


    PREFACE


    The year 2019 marks the centenary of the death of Louis Botha, one of the Homeric figures of South African history. Today, his memory and legacy, like those of his close colleague Jan Smuts, are being traduced by members of a modern generation more intent on apportioning blame for historical injustices than making allowance for the times and circumstances in which Botha lived, fought and led his people.


    His life was relatively short, but, as Viscount Bolingbroke observed, the duration of great men’s lives should be determined by the length and importance of the parts they act, ‘not by the number of years that pass between their coming into the world and their going out of it’.1 By the time of his premature death, Botha had acted out his own part as prime minister of South Africa for nine years, and before that as premier of the Transvaal for three.


    Under-educated as a youngster on a remote country farm, and untrained in the arts of warfare, he rose to become the military leader of his people, a fighting commander of such quality as to command the respect and admiration of every one of his adversaries. Bowing, after brave resistance, to inevitable defeat in the second Anglo-Boer War (1899–1902), his political skills were such as to enable his Afrikaner compatriots to win the ensuing peace, all the while ruing the loss of their republics. He was a founding father of the Union of South Africa, and its first premier. In tandem with Jan Smuts, he took the fateful decision to tie his fledgling country’s fortunes to those of the British Empire, not out of subservience – as his critics alleged – but because of the imperative of Afrikaner-English reconciliation, and the insurance against invasion and guarantee of economic upliftment that an attachment to the Empire might bring. In the Great War (1914–1918), in order to keep the pledge he had given to the British, Botha took to the battlefield himself – the only Dominion prime minister to do so. He was a man whose word was his bond, who regarded a promise once given as unbreakable.


    Louis Botha suffered grievously for following what he regarded as the path of duty and honour. His upholding of his country’s constitutional commitment to Empire resulted in his last years on earth being a time of stress and grief. Acutely sensitive to having his motives wilfully misrepresented or misunderstood, he was the victim of frequent spells of depression, made worse by bouts of ill health. The Afrikaner rebellion of 1914 cut him to the quick and caused him more torment than anything else in his life.


    Unlike Smuts, Botha was not one to commit his thoughts to paper and left no memoir or trove of documents for researchers to mine. Any account of his life has to be pieced together from three seminal books, as well as the many memoirs and histories of the second Anglo-Boer War (also known as the South African War). Two men from different backgrounds who became closer to him than most were the editor of Pretoria’s influential De Volksstem newspaper (Die Volksstem from 1907), Dr FV Engelenburg, and Britain’s ­governor-general in South Africa, Sydney (later Earl) Buxton, both of whom wrote sympathetic biographies of Botha after his death.


    Engelenburg’s is the fullest account of Botha’s life and the book is enhanced by an eloquent eulogy, ‘in memoriam’, written by Smuts in 1929. ‘Together as friends and comrades,’ Smuts wrote, ‘we passed through the gravest crises of our lives; together we had to take the most fateful decisions. I saw him under the most severe tests that can be applied to a human being – tests which would have revealed and brought out any flaws in his inner composition. And it is the way he stood all these tests and showed real greatness of soul that has made him quite outstanding in my memories of the great men whom I have known and worked with.’2


    Engelenburg, for his part, marvelled that it had taken Botha less than twenty years to become world famous as a soldier and national leader. But fame had come at a price: ‘The fifteen years of unremitting political, diplomatic and military prowess that followed, conferred on him the glory as well as the desecration that are the portion of every statesman standing head and shoulders above his contemporaries,’ he noted. Seeking to derive a morsel of comfort from Botha’s early death, the author wrote, ‘To him was vouchsafed the great privilege of departing this life at the very height of his ambition as a South African.’3


    Earl Buxton, a British cabinet minister sent out to South Africa as governor-general in 1914, formed an unusually intimate friendship with Botha during the last five years of the latter’s life. As a leading British politician, Buxton had met many ‘big men’ in his time, but regarded Botha as the ‘most human and loveable of them all’.4 ‘He was imbued,’ Buxton wrote, ‘with that indefinable magnetism and charm which is innate to its happy possessor, but which cannot be analysed or described.’5


    Buxton and his perceptive wife, Mildred, provide us with many shrewd insights into Botha’s personality – his natural simplicity and inherited shrewdness, his personal warmth and geniality, and his courtesy and consideration for the feelings of others. Yet, in Buxton’s judgement, as prime minister Botha was sometimes too tolerant and tender-hearted for his own good. His sensitivity to personal criticism, particularly from his own people, often left him wounded and depressed, and pondering whether he should soldier on in politics.


    So much for the personal qualities of this remarkable Boer-Afrikaner, who impressed so many of the great and good of his time. But what should we make of his legacy, after a century of hindsight has thrown into sharp relief some of the failures and misjudgements of his political career? He cannot avoid responsibility for the passing – while premier and also minister of native affairs – of the Natives Land Act of 1913, the baneful effects of which are still with us today. The consequences of this Act – unforeseen though they may have been – have had far-reaching effects on the lives of Africans across South Africa and underpinned other legislation that led to the entrenched segregation of Africans, coloureds and Indians in the decades that followed Botha’s demise.


    Yet, as Martin Meredith observes, segregation – both spatial and social – was seen by most whites in Botha’s time, and even by many blacks, as the remedy for racial peace and the reduction of centuries of conflict. It was the Milner-appointed Lagden Commission no less, staffed by colonial officials representing ‘progressive’ opinion, that recommended in 1903 that blacks and whites should be kept apart on a permanent basis if tensions were to be averted and ‘civilised’ white rule preserved. After Lagden, says Meredith, the practice of segregation was elevated to a political doctrine and employed by virtually every white politician as a respectable slogan from then on.6


    Botha’s personal attitude to Africans was a mixture of respectful paternalism towards any individual with whom he came into contact or who worked for him, and a disbelief that blacks as a group should enjoy the same political rights as whites. According to Buxton, with whom he had many discussions on the subject, Botha always took a broad and sympathetic view on matters affecting the ‘natives’,7 among whom he had grown up as a boy and whose languages he spoke fluently. His touching concern for Dinuzulu, the Zulu king, who had been unfairly treated by the Natal authorities, must be contrasted with his belief, quoted disapprovingly by a British journalist, that ‘no self-respecting white man would sit next to a coloured man in Parliament’.8


    Mindful of the contrasting views of the Cape and the other provinces on the franchise issue, Botha’s overriding concern, according to Buxton, was that the ‘native question’ should not in any way divide the Afrikaner and English sections of the population. In speech, action and influence, he did his best to prevent any outcome which ‘in his opinion would tend to accentuate racial feeling and be injurious to the welfare of the “natives”’.9


    On the question of Afrikaner-English relations, arguments over the wisdom of Botha’s policy of reconciliation reverberate to this day. As for the schism that grew between him and JBM Hertzog and was to split Afrikanerdom asunder, the wisdom of hindsight suggests there was fault on both sides. Hertzog’s claim that Botha was intent on subverting South Africa’s interests to those of imperial Britain was given the lie by Hertzog’s own abandoning of his republican ideal once he had built on the foundations laid by Botha (and Smuts) at successive Imperial Conferences, and achieved Dominion status for South Africa under the Statute of Westminster (1931).


    Where Hertzog was probably right, however, was in believing that, unless Afrikaners stood up for their cultural, educational and language rights after the Anglo-Boer War, they were in danger of being overwhelmed and subsumed by an omnipresent English culture. Without the Hertzogites’ insistence on equal treatment for Afrikaans in schools, it’s quite possible that the language might not have survived, let alone prospered.


    As one who almost always spoke only Dutch (or Afrikaans) in public, Botha disliked language fanatics as intensely as he did ‘jingoes’.10 Yet he was strangely oblivious, says Engelenburg, to the damage done by officials who frequently ignored the equality clause in the Union constitution and gave undue preference to English. His government – he would argue – could not be held responsible for the behaviour of individual civil servants. And when it became clear that a healthy enthusiasm for Afrikaans was being misused as an instrument for anti-English propaganda, his interest in the language issue diminished even further. It was a miscalculation that was to cost him dearly at the polls.


    *


    The task of the historian, as AJP Taylor reminds us, is to explain the past, neither to justify nor to condemn it.11 It is also, according to Gordon S Wood, to place the actions of those who came before us in the context of their times, ‘to describe their blindness and folly with sympathy, to recognise the extent to which they were caught up in circumstances over which they had little control, and to realise the degree to which they created results they never intended’.12


    It is in this spirit that A Man Apart has been written. It resists the temptation to assess Louis Botha’s life through modern lenses and attempts rather to explain, but not necessarily to defend or justify, political attitudes that were commonplace in colonial Africa and most of the world a century ago. As Henry Kissinger observed in his seminal study of Metternich, A World Restored, statesmen generally have a tragic quality about them because they are condemned ‘to struggle with factors which are not amenable to will and which cannot be changed in one lifetime … It is for this reason that statesmen share the fate of prophets, for they are without honour in their own country. A statesman who too far outruns the experience of his people will fail in his domestic consensus, however wise his policies.’13 In this respect, South African history offers more than one example.


    As hindsight makes apparent, many of the politicians of a century ago were victims of demographic, economic, social and cultural forces they could not fully comprehend, nor indeed were even aware of. Understanding Louis Botha and his generation in this way, and granting them a humanity they did not always see fit to extend to other races, ought to make white South Africans, especially, wiser and less judgemental about our common past. It might also make us all more conscious of the shortcomings and limitations of our perceptions of the present.

  


  


  INTRODUCTION


  The South Africa into which the young Louis Botha was born and grew to manhood was a patchwork region of settler states in perpetual ferment. Earlier in the 19th century, the Mfecane (or Difaqane), a series of convulsions that shattered the traditional structures of African society, had interacted with the Great Trek of Afrikaner farmers from the Cape of Good Hope in ways that affected land habitation and power relationships across southern Africa. Everywhere, people were on the move, journeying to where there was more food, readily available land, grazing for their animals and, above all, liberation from persecution and oppression – whether from tribal chiefs or overbearing colonial authorities.


  Britain had taken possession of the Cape in 1806, during the Napoleonic Wars, for one primary reason: she needed a supply station for ships making the long and arduous sea journey around the foot of Africa to India and the Far East. For the world’s leading maritime and trading nation, ruling the waves required a network of bases to guard international sea routes, and the Cape was a strategic asset that could not be allowed to remain in French (or other European) hands. Hoping not to be caught up in the internal affairs of another distant imperial outpost, Britain had been drawn inexorably into a complex, financially unrewarding entanglement in and beyond the borders of the southern African colony it established formally in 1814. As the noted historian of empire Ronald Hyam was to write, ‘of all the regions of the world where Britain sought to exert influence, none exhibited such complications, and thus presented such intractable dilemmas, as South Africa’, where she ‘felt herself to be caught between her liberal concern for the whites and her humanitarian concern for the blacks’.1


  As the occupying power, the British were responsible – directly or indirectly – for protecting the interests of all the Cape’s inhabitants, not merely their own kith and kin. These included the descendants of the nomadic San and Khoikhoi peoples; the Afrikaner progeny of the Dutch, and the first Europeans to settle at the Cape in 1652; a large mixed-race (or ‘coloured’) population; as well as the various Xhosa tribes living along the eastern frontier.


  Within less than two decades, however, rural Afrikaners had had more than enough of British rule. Deeply religious and resistant to temporal authority, these Afrikaner farmers (or Boers) had come to regard themselves as a racially pure elect on a black continent, and as the makers of their own destiny.2 When Britain abolished slavery throughout the Empire in 1833, thereby threatening the Afrikaners’ traditional way of life, some 6 000 Boer families loaded up their ox-wagons and took off with retainers and livestock into the interior. By 1845, over 15 000 burghers (citizens) and their families, accompanied by 5 000 servants, had departed the colony in search of new pastures – and freedom from the interfering British.3


  As Sarah Gertrude Millin colourfully records, ‘[these Boers] wandered with their flocks, according to the season, from high-veld to low-veld. They lived in tents or in houses of corrugated iron and mud. They rode, slack in seat, long in stirrup, on shaggy horses. Their literature was the Bible – the Old Testament rather than the new. They saw no newspapers. They heard no news. Europe was breathlessly changing and they were unaware of it. They had the freedom and security, the dignity and strength, the lordliness and hospitality – the narrowness, the evasiveness, the idleness, the ignorance, of solitude.’4


  Most of these Voortrekkers made their way northwards, across the Orange and Vaal rivers, to the high grassland plateau, but some moved eastwards across the Drakensberg mountains into the fertile region of Natal. The spirited resistance of indigenous tribes to the invasion of their land was only overcome by the regular use of firearms. Although these trekkers had a common purpose, they were far from being united. In the small ‘republics’ they founded in parts of what in due course became the Transvaal and the Orange Free State, they were often at loggerheads with one another, sometimes to the point of armed conflict.


  At first, the Cape colonial administration took a hands-off approach to the departing Boers, calculating that their ramshackle republics would eventually founder upon old-fashioned farming practices and a lack of finance, as well as the aggressive resistance of black tribespeople. In Natal, however, Britain took a more uncompromising stance, refusing to recognise any trekker claims to independence because of the risk of Port Natal (Durban) falling into foreign hands.5


  Anxious to be rid of financial and security responsibility for parts of southern Africa that were of little economic value, and concerned that further Boer expansion to the north and east would bring inter-racial clashes that might undermine peace and stability across the subcontinent, the British reluctantly negotiated independence agreements with the Transvaal and Orange Free State, in 1852 and 1854, respectively. In exchange for agreeing not to progress further northwards, the two Boer republics were given a free hand over their internal affairs, which included control over the far more numerous ‘natives’ within their borders.


  Both republics remained weak and unstable, however. In the Transvaal, where the Venda, Pedi and Sotho-Tswana peoples lived in close proximity to whites, land issues and labour relations were a constant source of conflict. In the far north, unrest in Vendaland led to the entire Zoutpansberg district’s being abandoned by whites. In the Free State, there were three wars between Boer and Basotho within the republic’s first 14 years.


  Elsewhere, the British colonies were in little better state: the Cape was plagued by drought, locusts, a drop in the wool price and a shortage of finance, while in Natal the tiny white population lived in constant fear of an Nguni uprising or an invasion across the Tugela (uThukela) river from Zululand. Not surprisingly, Britain regarded her two investments in southern Africa as ‘among the most troublesome, expensive and unprofitable possessions of the British Empire’.6


  The imperial interest in South Africa was transformed overnight, however, by the discovery of a diamond at Hopetown, in the Cape Colony, in 1867, and other alluvial deposits on the banks of the Orange River in the Free State in 1869. Two years later, the world’s richest diamond finds were made on land of the Griqua tribe, on the frontier between the Cape and the Free State. It was not long before Griqualand West became the third British crown colony in South Africa. In 1886, the richest gold seams in the world were uncovered on the Witwatersrand, a rocky ridge on the Transvaal highveld. Within less than two decades, far-off South Africa had changed from economic basket case to highly sought-after treasure house.


  Hordes of fortune-seekers from all over the world, especially the British Isles, poured into the diamond and gold diggings in search of instant riches. Known to the Boers as ‘Uitlanders’ (foreigners), they – and the mining companies following in their wake – posed a new and unwelcome threat to the Afrikaner way of life and patriarchal style of government.


  *


  In Natal, the ancestral home of the Zulu people, the small white population of British soldiers and their families at Fort Victoria on the Port Natal coast, as well as the itinerant Boer farmers inland, had been boosted by the arrival – during 1849–1852 – of a further 5 000 British settlers under a sponsored immigration scheme. They were followed in 1860 by indentured labourers from India, brought in to cultivate the sugar-cane fields along the coast. These newcomers gave a shot in the arm to the struggling colonial economy, whose development was impeded by impractical land usage and the lack of an adequate communications network. Until a railway was built in the 1870s, the transportation of goods in Natal was by lumbering ox-wagon.7


  At the time of Louis Botha’s birth, the Zulu kingdom was ruled by Mpande. Twenty-five years earlier, Mpande’s predecessor, Dingane, had agreed to cede land between the Tugela and Umzimvubu rivers to Piet Retief and his invading Voortrekkers in return for cattle recaptured by the Boers from a rival chief. At the treaty-signing ceremony at Dingane’s headquarters, however, Retief’s party of 67 trekkers and 30 servants was overpowered and brutally massacred. Eleven days later, Boer laagers along the Bloukraans and Bushmans rivers were overrun by Zulu impis. Five hundred people (mainly servants) lost their lives and more than 25 000 head of cattle, as well as sheep and horses, were seized. Revenge followed swiftly. At the Battle of Blood River near Dundee, on 16 December 1838, 470 Boers led by Andries Pretorius inflicted a crushing defeat on Dingane’s army, which numbered some 8 000 to 10 000 men – an event that became etched deeply into Afrikaner folklore. Botha’s own father, Louis, then 11 years old, was present with his father at the scene.8


  After the battle, the victorious trekkers established the Republic of Natalia on the land south of the Tugela, which included the tiny British settlement at Port Natal. The deep split in Zulu ranks following the disaster at Blood River caused Mpande to seek the assistance of the Boers in his efforts to overthrow his half-brother, Dingane, an invitation to which they responded with enthusiasm. A few months later, Natalia’s Volksraad (parliament) confirmed Mpande as king of the Zulu and installed him as the leader of a vassal state stretching from the Tugela to the Umfolozi (today Mfolozi).


  The Boers’ hopes of gaining control of a harbour were not to be realised, however. The colonial government still regarded the trekkers as British subjects, and refused to countenance any demand for independence. In May 1842, there was an armed skirmish for control of Port Natal between British troops and Boers encamped at Congella during which the British lost several men. The colonial administration then reluctantly annexed the entire territory between the Umzimkulu (today Mzimkhulu) and Umfolozi rivers, and bordered by the Drakensberg to the north.


  In 1845, Natal was formally declared a separate district of the Cape Colony, which brought an immediate end to the short-lived Republic of Natalia. Unlike the Cape, the borders of Natal were now clearly defined, and the colony remained peaceful for as long as the Mpondo in the south and Mpande’s Zulu in the north continued to display few signs of aggression. Those Boers who refused to subject themselves to British rule once again headed north for the Transvaal. But others chose to stay on and make their livelihood in verdant Natal – where they were to multiply and prosper. Prominent among them was the family of a trekker from the Cape, one Philip Botha.


  
    CHAPTER 1


    GROWING UP


    Early days


    Louis Botha, destined to become South Africa’s first prime minister, was born on 27 September 1862 on the farm Onrust, near Greytown, in Natal. He was the seventh in a Boer family of 13 children – seven girls and six boys. Like his later political contemporaries Jan Christiaan Smuts and JBM (Barry) Hertzog, he was a subject of Queen Victoria’s at birth.


    His Botha forebears were German-French, thought to be descendants of a young soldier, Friedrich Boot, who came to the Cape from the German state of Thuringia in 1678. More than a century and a half later, the Botha clan were among the first Boers to leave the southwestern Cape for pastures north and east in order to escape being ruled by the arrogant British, who did not, they believed, have Afrikaner interests at heart.


    Louis’s grandfather, Philip, made the arduous trek with ox-wagons and cattle from Swellendam in the southern Cape across the Drakensberg mountains eastwards to an unoccupied area of Natal between Durban and Pietermaritzburg, known to this day as Botha’s Hill. His own son, Louis, born in 1829, lived on his father’s farm until he was 21, when he moved north to De Rust, near Greytown, a village described by Harold Spender, the British journalist and early biographer of Botha, as ‘at that time the remotest civilised spot in this part of South Africa, just on the borders of the wildest part of Zululand’.1


    Louis’s mother, Salomina (Minnie), was of Huguenot extraction, the pretty and popular daughter of Gerrit van Rooyen, a well-to-do businessman from Uitenhage in the Cape and close friend of the Boer leader Andries Pretorius. She and Louis’s father met and married in Greytown, where 12 of their children were born.


    Life was tough on the De Rust farm: on several occasions the Botha homestead was burnt down by sparks from the kitchen fire or by Zulu tribesmen objecting to the white man’s incursion onto their land. Home comforts were few, and the family, like all their fellow Boers, had to live by the gun for protection from marauders and wild animals and for food from the abundant game.


    As his father had done, Louis Botha (Snr) raised cattle and sheep, trading skins and wool in the days before there were markets or railways. He was fiercely independent of mind and temperamentally restless. When Louis (Jnr) was seven years old financial troubles forced his father to sell up and relocate his large family to land at Vrede, in the northeastern Free State, on the road from Natal to Pretoria. Here, in due course, he became a prosperous farmer.


    A sunny temperament


    Like all Boer children, the young Louis was brought up in a deeply observant Calvinist family. Taught to ride a horse and shoot a rifle at an early age, he received little formal schooling, learning what he could from itinerant Dutch tutors and as much as his parents could teach him. As a result, he read little. While High Dutch was the formal written language of the Boers, Afrikaans was their spoken tongue. Louis only encountered English when visitors came to his parents’ farmhouse, never became fluent in the language, and was always hesitant about it in public, even in later life.


    From his earliest days on the farm, he lived and played among black children, becoming familiar with their history and customs and fluent in the Zulu and Sesotho languages – although ever conscious of the master and servant relationship between his family and their farmworkers.


    Physically, Louis was a fine specimen of youth – tall and strongly built, with an engaging smile and violet-blue eyes, which were to become protuberant in middle age. He had an easy-going personality, enjoyed playing the concertina, much preferred the company of other people to solitude, and made friends wherever he went. Intellectually, he was instinctive rather than cerebral, a man of action rather than a scholar, but there was no doubting his innate intelligence or good sense in picking ‘the right men to lead him, the right men to become his close friends and the right men to advise him’.2 He was blessed also with a natural authority that even in adolescence often saw his elder brothers and sisters deferring to him.


    However, as his perceptive biographer Johannes Meintjes points out, Louis’s sunny temperament and amiable disposition could not entirely conceal an inner lack of self-assurance and a sensitivity to disapproval or censure. In later life, though always gracious to women and happily married, he needed the close company of men at all times: ‘he needed their talk, their warmth and their affection as much as he needed air’.3 His core characteristic, which he was to display throughout his life, was an unswerving devotion and loyalty to the causes he believed in. Yet his nature was such that he was easily hurt when others criticised him or opposed his course of action.4


    At Vrede, the Botha farmstead was home to a large and close-knit family, in which the many children looked after one another and shared duties on the farm. In the days before the second Anglo-Boer War, it was not uncommon for Afrikaners and English to intermarry, and some of Louis’s sisters wed Englishmen they had met in Greytown. In the hospitable Botha household, all visitors were made welcome. Though members of his family were, in time, to find themselves on opposite sides of the Boer-Brit divide, Louis had no reason to dislike individual Englishmen, and never did.5


    Teenage years


    Most of Louis’s teenage years were spent outdoors in the veld, which bred in him a hardy self-reliance and sense of personal responsibility. On more than one occasion, his father tested his resilience by sending him to accompany the flocks of sheep driven down from the chilly Free State to warmer climes in Zululand for the annual winter grazing. An eager learner, he did not take long to pick up the essentials of successful cattle and sheep farming, which remained a passion throughout his life.


    When Louis was 15, Natal’s influential secretary for native affairs, Sir Theophilus Shepstone (known as ‘Somtseu’ to Zulu, and ‘Stoffel Slypsteen’ to Boers),6 spent a night at the Botha farm on his way to the Transvaal. The youngster was startled to overhear Shepstone, who was fluent in Afrikaans, discussing plans with his father for the possible annexation of the Transvaal on behalf of the British Crown. Botha (Snr) disapproved vehemently of the plan and warned his visitor that the consequences might be disastrous. Under orders from London, Shepstone could pay no heed to this sound advice and the outcome was the first of two bitter conflicts between Boers and British from which both sides were never fully to recover.


    Trouble in the Transvaal


    The driving force behind imperial Britain’s proposed annexation of the Transvaal was the colonial secretary, Lord Carnarvon, known as ‘Twitters’ to his political colleagues who regarded him as an unreliable eccentric. Twitters had successfully united three British colonies in Canada in 1867 and, with the conviction that so often masks ignorance, saw no reason why he could not also federate the two British colonies and two Boer republics in South Africa under the imperial flag.7 The timing seemed propitious. After 25 years of independence from British rule, the first South African Republic – the Zuid-Afrikaansche Republiek (ZAR), or Transvaal – was on its knees. A combination of internecine Boer rivalries, looming bankruptcy, the hostility of neighbouring black tribes and the unpopularity of President Thomas Burgers had brought the trekker republic to the verge of collapse. Carnarvon decided the moment was at hand for Britain to acquire the goldfields of the ZAR, and thereafter the Free State – preferably by persuasion but if necessary by armed force.


    In violation of the Sand River Convention (which had granted the ZAR its independence in 1852), let alone international law, Carnarvon appointed Shepstone as a special commissioner of the Crown and sent him, along with a 25-strong detachment of Natal Mounted Police, to Pretoria on an assignment that resulted in the annexation of the republic three months later. On 12 April 1877, encouraged by the English-speaking community but over the protests of the burghers, and after making much capital out of the Zulu threat across the republic’s southeastern border, Shepstone proclaimed the ZAR’s independence at an end.8 From now on, the Transvaal would be a British colony, run by himself as administrator.


    Boer outrage


    Although on friendly terms with the British, the Bothas – like all Boers – were outraged at Carnarvon’s presumption. It took a while for Paul Kruger and Petrus (Piet) Joubert, successors to the discredited Burgers, to unify the resistance to the new British administration, in which Shepstone had been succeeded by a new proconsul, the arrogant and dictatorial Sir Garnet Wolseley. It was Wolseley who declared loftily that ‘as long as the sun shines, the Transvaal will be British territory’.9


    On 13 December 1880, at Paardekraal, 5 000 burghers reaffirmed their faith in the Almighty and declared the Transvaal to be free once again from British rule. On 16 December, the opening shots of the Boer rebellion were exchanged at Potchefstroom, where a commando led by Commandant Piet Cronje laid siege to the British garrison outside the town. After British encampments in seven other towns were similarly besieged, Sir George Pomeroy Colley and a force of some 1 200 troops were called up from Natal to help subdue the Boers. In response, 800 burghers on horseback under Commandant-General Piet Joubert hurried across the Transvaal/Natal border to cut off Colley and his men.


    Colley’s first two attempts to capture Boer positions at Laing’s Nek and Schuinshoogte ended in failure, with the loss of 340 of his troops. Determined to prove that his men were superior to the unsophisticated enemy, 500 of Colley’s redcoats took up positions on the summit of Majuba, a prominent, conical hill north of Newcastle on the main road to the Transvaal. The British troops on the peak were no match for some 150 well-camouflaged Boer sharpshooters who crawled up the hill to pick off their targets outlined against the skyline. Colley himself and 95 of his men were killed, 117 wounded and 60 taken prisoner, against one man killed and a few wounded on the Boer side.


    News of the calamity at Majuba reverberated around the Empire and beyond. Ignoring cries to ‘avenge Majuba’, Prime Minister William Gladstone resisted demands for more resources to be diverted to Carnarvon’s over-­ambitious endeavour, and sued for peace with Kruger instead. In August 1881, the independence of the Transvaal was formally restored, under certain conditions laid down in the Pretoria Convention. Bitterly divided a mere four years earlier, the Boers of the Transvaal were now united as never before.


    In Vrede, Louis Botha (Snr) had spent the war months gathering ammunition for the neighbouring Transvalers, which he took himself by wagon to Boer headquarters in Heidelberg. Young Louis made his own contribution to the cause by cutting adrift pontoons and rowing boats on the nearby Vaal River used by British messengers.10


    Into Zululand


    Around this time, the young Louis Botha’s mettle was severely tested on one of his winter-grazing treks to Zululand. The authority of the Zulu king, Cetshwayo, had been destroyed in the devastating Anglo-Zulu War of 1879, with the monarch banished to Cape Town. After the war, Wolseley had established 13 chiefdoms, the most powerful of which was that of Sibebu (Zibhebhu), whose gangs rampaged through the countryside, making it dangerous for visitors. One of these armed bands was led by a notorious captain, Mapelo, who one day cut the throat of a German missionary not far from where Louis was camped. When Mapelo and his armed men rode up later that day, Louis’s herdsman fled, enabling the raiders to seize sheep and anything else they could grab.


    As Mapelo, whom he knew from past visits, approached, the young Louis clambered aboard his ox-wagon, rifle in hand and only six cartridges in his pouch, and calmly lit his pipe. When the Zulu captain boldly climbed onto the wagon next to him and demanded food for his men, Louis greeted him in a friendly manner and remained outwardly unconcerned. Speaking in fluent Zulu, he engaged Mapelo in conversation, advancing reasons why he and his flocks should not be molested.


    After being offered a few sheep on condition he called off his men – and probably not wanting to provoke a Boer unnecessarily – Mapelo suddenly rose, ordered that everything taken should be restored to the young white man, and rode off with his warriors. It was a narrow escape for the shaken Louis, who described the incident afterwards as one of the most disturbing of his life.11 Yet it had also been an early demonstration of his coolness under pressure, tact and use of friendly persuasion.


    To Natal once more


    In July 1882, Louis Botha (Snr) died after a protracted illness, during which he had delegated the management of his farming enterprise to Louis (Jnr). His estate was left in the hands of his widely dispersed children. Hoping to keep the parental property intact, the 20-year-old Louis proposed to his brothers and sisters – half of whom were older than he was – that he should carry on managing the farm on their behalf. They declined his offer, choosing instead to sell the property and divide up their father’s assets between them.


    As was customary among Boers, if you didn’t like a decision you inspanned your wagon and trekked off to greener pastures. A disappointed Louis decided to go back to Natal, accompanied by a younger brother.12 He would cast in his lot with Lucas Meyer, one of his father’s closest friends, the leader of the Boers across the natural barrier of the southern Drakensberg.13

  


  
    CHAPTER 2


    MAKING HIS MARK


    A new father figure


    Lucas Meyer, known as the ‘Lion of Vryheid’ (after the town in northern Natal in which he settled), was a larger-than-life character destined to play a significant role in the history of his people. A huge, powerfully built, fully bearded man whose personality dominated any gathering, he was hugely popular among his fellow Boers.


    Unlike most of his kinsmen, Meyer was a cultured man, of refined tastes.1 Born and educated in the Free State, he had trekked with his parents to Natal before moving north to the Transvaal. Fiercely opposed to Britain’s annexation of the ZAR in 1877, he took part in the fighting along the Transvaal/Natal border, sustaining a head wound that left him unconscious for 42 days but from which he eventually recovered.2


    Louis Botha had first met Meyer on his parents’ farm in Vrede and was immediately attracted by the magnetism of a man 16 years his senior. The attraction was mutual: Lucas looked upon the young Louis with a fondness that was to deepen in the years ahead. After Botha (Snr)’s death, it was Meyer who became the younger man’s father figure and role model. At the age of 21, Louis ‘had found himself a hero and a leader, and a deep and lasting friendship was to result’.3


    Aiding Dinuzulu


    In neighbouring Zululand, Cetshwayo’s death at Ulundi in 1884 served to heighten the blood feud between Dinuzulu, his 16-year-old son and nominated successor, and the rival claimant to the Zulu throne, the powerful Chief Sibebu. With the British unwilling to take Dinuzulu’s side in his rivalry with Sibebu, the young man turned to the Boers of the Utrecht area for help, offering part of Zululand abutting the southeastern border of the Transvaal in return for their military assistance. Led by Lucas Meyer – Botha’s new mentor – the Boers accepted the offer, and began to make preparations for a mounted expedition into deepest Zululand.


    On 21 May 1884, on the Ngwibi mountainside 32 kilometres east of Vryheid, Dinuzulu was crowned king of the Zulu at a ceremony attended by some 350 Boers and an estimated 8 000 of his followers. Among those present was Botha.4 Following the coronation, word went out to every chieftain in the kingdom – including Sibebu, who regarded himself as the virtual ruler of Zululand – that the Zulu crown had been restored to Dinuzulu. As soon as the ceremony was over, Meyer and a commando of more than a hundred fighters left by ox-wagon and horseback for the heart of Zululand to stamp out resistance to Dinuzulu and restore law and order in the kingdom. Another member of the commando was Botha’s good friend from the Free State, young Cheere (Cherry) Emmett, later to become his brother-in-law and a fellow general in the second Anglo-Boer War.


    Overcoming Sibebu


    The Boers did not have long to wait for Sibebu’s response to Dinuzulu’s provocation. At the battle of Magut on the Pongola (Phongolo) River, his impis were put to flight by the Boers’ deadly rifle fire, followed by the hot pursuit of 7 000 of the king’s loyal but fearful warriors. Meyer’s men were now in command of Zululand. In Harold Spender’s vivid description, ‘after [the battle] everything was over except the shouting, the negotiating, and the division of the conquered lands’.5


    On campaign on behalf of Dinuzulu, Botha was once again fortunate to escape with his life. After a long day in the saddle setting up landmarks for the Boers, he holed up for the night in an abandoned hut. Wakened by the sound of chanting, he peered out and saw that he was surrounded by assegai-wielding Zulu, who had ‘come to kill the white man’. Yelling to them in Zulu, ‘Who are you?’, the reply came back, ‘We are the warriors of Dinuzulu.’ ‘But I have been fighting on your side,’ shouted Botha, at which point the chanting ceased and the warriors lowered their spears. They had wrongly assumed the white man to be an ally of Sibebu. When Botha emerged from the hut into the moonlight, he was recognised and hailed as a fellow warrior and friend. But he had been given ‘the fright of his life’, as he recounted to a friend later. He could easily have been killed in his sleep and his shelter burnt down.6


    In promising part of his kingdom to the Boers, however, Dinuzulu had not fully realised what he was letting himself in for, and soon became bitter at losing control over three million acres of land – far more than he had contemplated. One hundred and fifteen Boers had fought for him, but no fewer than 800 now applied for 6 000-acre farms.7


    The Boers were not to enjoy undisturbed possession of their new land for long. As Spender records, no sooner had the much-feared Sibebu been ­vanquished than ‘fugitive Zulus appeared in multitudes from every rock and cranny of the land, trains of women and children, lank, haggard men – carrying their simple household goods on their shoulders and streaming down from the hills to re-occupy the plains. Kraals sprang up like mushrooms …’8


    The New Republic


    Some form of governance for the Boer-occupied part of Zululand was now a matter of urgency, and thus, on 6 August 1884, ‘de Nieuwe Republiek’ (the New Republic) came into existence, with Lucas Meyer as president and the young Louis Botha a member of the executive council. The popular Transvaler, General Piet Joubert, had been nominated as the fledgling state’s first president but had declined, and the well-regarded Meyer was appointed in his stead. Among Botha’s first tasks was to divide up the land on which the capital, Vryheid, was to be laid out, into residential plots.9


    As one of four land commissioners, Botha was also charged with measuring out the acreage ceded by Dinuzulu into the farms which the Boers who had fought for the Zulu ruler had been promised. The task was difficult – and hazardous – for the boundaries of many prospective properties were in far-flung, desolate places. The task kept Botha and his fellow commissioners out in the veld for more than a year.


    When the surveying was almost complete, it became obvious that there was not nearly enough prospective farmland to go round, so the laborious exercise had to be repeated. Eventually, some 250 farms were allocated to individual Boers by the drawing of lots.10 Botha himself drew a landholding near Babanango, which he subsequently exchanged for Waterval (No 130), a 3 500-acre farm 38 kilometres east of Vryheid.


    Marriage


    Before occupying Waterval, Botha, aged only 24, decided it was time to marry. His bride was Annie, the daughter of John Emmett, an Irish auctioneer who had settled at Harrismith in the Free State, and the sister of Cherry Emmett, Botha’s companion on the expedition to Zululand. Annie was a spirited young lady who had been given a good education in Bloemfontein and returned to share the household duties on the family farm. A talented musician, blessed with a lively sense of humour, she had turned her back on her parents’ choice of suitor in favour of the ‘little Dutch boy’ for whom she seems to have fallen instantly. 11


    Annie knew little Afrikaans at first and Louis not much English, but that was no barrier to a long and happy relationship in which both partners were utterly devoted to one another. He always referred to her as ‘my maatjie’ (my little mate) and in later life she was known to her friends as ‘Maatjie’ rather than Annie. As Louis was never comfortable in English, the couple usually spoke to each other in his home language.12


    Despite the future Mrs Botha’s being an Anglican, she and Louis were wed in the Dutch Reformed Church at Vryheid, on 13 December 1886 – the first ceremony of its kind performed in the New Republic. Here, too, the couple agreed that religion would be no obstacle to their relationship, though Annie was eventually to join her husband’s church during the Anglo-Boer War. There were five children of the marriage – three sons and two daughters.


    There is a charming account, in Spender’s biography, of how the Bothas’ wedding actually took place in the Free State, shortly after Louis travelled home to attend his mother Minnie’s funeral. After a honeymoon spent in the old Vrede homestead, the young couple embarked on the long trek by ox-wagon across the Drakensberg, past ‘the shadow of Majuba’, to their new home outside Vryheid. Dr CJ Barnard, who interviewed Botha’s daughter, Helen, in 1964, says that the tale was a figment of Spender’s romantic imagination, however.13


    During their early years of married life, the Bothas lived well within their limited means: their first four-room thatched cottage was built by themselves and their farmworkers. In due course, the little cottage was replaced by a large and comfortable sandstone homestead, with a wide stoep and seven bedrooms. Approached through a long avenue of specially planted trees, Waterval became the most attractive and prosperous farm in the Vryheid district.


    According to Spender, at Waterval another incident occurred that nearly cost Botha his life. He and his brother Chris were inspecting cattle in a paddock when a young bull, a special favourite of his, rushed up from behind and drove its horn into his side. Chris Botha, a powerful man, grabbed the bull and held onto its horns, shouting to the farmworkers for help. As soon as the bull had been safely secured, he ran to help Louis, who looked as though he was dead. Chris picked up his brother and carried him into the house, before returning to shoot the bull. Louis’s strong constitution enabled him to recover from his injuries, but he felt their effects for many years afterwards.14


    Businessman and speculator


    Like his father, Louis Botha had a keen eye for business and was never averse to speculation. According to Engelenburg, by October 1899 he had become the owner of some 4 000 sheep (including imported rams), 600 head of cattle and more than 100 thoroughbred horses. His wealth had been further enhanced by the purchase of several neighbouring farms on which he grew crops and fruit. In addition, his election as the veldkornet (field cornet) for the Vryheid area in 1888, his first official military appointment, gave him a salary of ‘a couple of hundred’ pounds a year to add to his earnings as a native commissioner, which involved collecting the ‘hut tax’ from Zulu tribesmen. He also operated, along with Lucas Meyer, a lucrative land syndicate that offered mortgage facilities to would-be property owners.15


    Botha was to derive additional income from other interests besides farming. In 1891, he bought land on which there were coal deposits (which he was to sell for a handsome profit), and some time later he and Meyer contracted with the Transvaal government to build a railway line from Vryheid to the Buffalo River, a contract eventually sold profitably to an engineering firm. In 1895, the Transvaal government appointed him as a resident justice and native commissioner to look after its interests in neighbouring Swaziland. Botha spent most of that year in Mbabane before returning to Vryheid.16


    As neither the ZAR nor Natal was prepared to acknowledge the independence of the New Republic,17 in October 1886 Lucas Meyer took himself to Pietermaritzburg to make British officialdom aware of the Boers’ agreement with Dinuzulu. The governor of Natal did not dispute the legitimacy of the agreement, but flatly refused to accept the Boers’ claim to control of Zululand. Not long after the meeting, it was announced formally that the Zulu kingdom lay within the Cape colonial government’s sphere of influence.


    In 1887, the reason for New Republic’s existence fell away when Dinuzulu began negotiations with the colonial authorities, and then fled into exile in the British-controlled part of Zululand. Now, the only sensible course for the Boers was to attach themselves to the Transvaal. In July 1888, the New Republic’s brief existence came to an end when it became a district of the ZAR, and was given two seats (later four) in the Volksraad. The short-lived mini-state brought with it a surplus of £6 000, which went into the coffers of the Transvaal treasury.18


    A Transvaal citizen


    Louis Botha’s first few years as a Transvaal citizen were spent building up the value of his farms, plantations and other business interests. In less than a decade, according to Engelenburg, the value of his assets grew to around £30 000 (several million rands in today’s money). Like most Boers, he found himself caught up in politics, but believed that would-be public servants should be free of financial concerns if they were to stand for election.19


    Encouraged by Meyer, Botha came out in support of the presidential campaign of General Piet Joubert, who stood for progress and reform against the more conservative President Kruger. In a letter to Joubert in August 1892, the aspiring politician left no doubt where his sympathies lay: ‘Our country certainly needs great changes, and in you we have the man who carries in his heart the independence of our beloved country, and a true friend of the Afrikaners … I hope that the day will speedily dawn when our children will be able to say – away with Kruger’s politics, concessions and Hollanders.’20


    The Jameson Raid


    In late 1895, a seismic event occurred that was to alter the course of South African history. The mining magnate and arch-imperialist premier of the Cape Colony, Cecil John Rhodes, had hatched a secret plan to invade the Transvaal, overthrow the Kruger government and force the gold-rich Transvaal into the clutches of the British Empire. What became known as the Jameson Raid, a hare-brained attempt by a mercenary force led by Rhodes’ right-hand man, Dr Leander Starr Jameson, to invade the Transvaal from Bechuanaland (today Botswana) and foment an internal uprising against Kruger, ended in fiasco when an overconfident Jameson and his raiders were captured without difficulty by Boer commandos under General Cronje and handed over for trial.


    Part conspiracy21 and part cock-up, the Jameson Raid caused irreparable damage to relations between Britain and the Transvaal and led within a few years to the second Anglo-Boer War. It also inflamed British public opinion against Germany’s Kaiser Wilhelm II, who had hastened to send Kruger a telegram of congratulation for having put down the Raid. The telegram read as follows: ‘I tender to you my sincere congratulations that without appealing to the help of friendly powers you and your people have been successful in opposing with your own forces the armed bands that have broken into your country to disturb the peace, in restoring order, and in maintaining the independence of your country against attacks from without.’22


    When the news broke of the Jameson Raid, the outraged Boers of Vryheid immediately turned to their veldkornet for counsel. Botha sent the following message on their behalf to Kruger: ‘My burghers and I fully approve Government’s action towards Johannesburg revolt. We offer assistance, and are ready to start at any moment. We are indignant at Johannesburg’s actions, and hope that all rebels will be punished and made [an] example of. We trust the Government and stand by it, come what may. Burghers were never more unanimous than now, and stand by Government like one man.’23


    In 1897, Botha’s healthy financial circumstances enabled him to put himself forward as a candidate for one of Vryheid’s two seats in the Transvaal Volksraad. There were three other candidates in the election, one of them the sitting member, Lucas Meyer, a strong supporter of General Joubert, and the other two followers of President Kruger.24


    The popular Botha declined, however, to associate himself with either Joubert’s ‘Progressives’ or Kruger’s ‘Conservatives’. His independent stance brought a stern warning from the editor of Vryheid’s newspaper, De Nieuwe Republikein, that unless Botha revealed his true colours, he stood little chance of being elected. But the voters of Vryheid thought otherwise. To general surprise, Botha topped the poll in the election, winning 357 votes to Meyer’s 330 and leaving his Krugerite opponents trailing well behind.25


    Before taking up his seat in the Volksraad, Botha made a preparatory visit to Meyer, who was staying in the Transvaal Hotel in Pretoria. Here he encountered a young Afrikaner lawyer, recently arrived from the Cape, with whom he was to form an attachment even closer than his own and Meyer’s. His new acquaintance, who would become Kruger’s state attorney within a year, was Jan Christiaan Smuts.26


    On 3 May 1897, Botha was sworn in as a member of the First Volksraad, representing the district of Vryheid. (The Volksraad had been divided into two chambers in 1890, to enable the Boers to retain political control of the ZAR while granting a limited say in local matters to Uitlanders. The First Volksraad was the highest authority over matters of state, while the Second Volksraad gave non-burghers, many of them temporarily employed in the mining industry, some voice in the Republic’s affairs.) Among those taking the oath on that day was another politician who was to become one of Botha’s closest and dearest friends – the re-elected member for Lichtenburg and future ‘Lion of the West’, JH (Koos) de la Rey.27

  


  
    CHAPTER 3


    WAR CLOUDS


    Kruger and Joubert


    At the time of Louis Botha’s election to the ZAR Volksraad in 1897, the tiny assembly was presided over by the formidable Paul Kruger. Its 30 members, partly elected and partly appointed, met in Pretoria’s Raadzaal, usually during February to October of each year. There were no formal political parties, but a vague division existed between the supporters of Kruger and those of his arch-rival, Piet Joubert, who had stood for the presidency (and nearly won) in 1893.


    Since Britain’s annexure of the Transvaal 20 years earlier, a steady flow of settlers and immigrants had been attracted to the pretty, tree-lined capital, Pretoria. Though since reclaimed from the British, the town had become home to many Englishmen, Hollanders and other incomers, some of whom had built palatial residences. Cultural life, according to Meintjes, ‘had become very English’.1


    The dominant influence in the capital, however, was that of the stern Boer patriarch, Paul Kruger. Born in the Cape in 1825, as a child Kruger had trekked north with his family and settled on land ceded by the Matabele (Ndebele) to the trekker leader, Hendrik Potgieter, at the foot of the Magaliesberg range. By the age of 14 the young Kruger had already been on commando and shot his first lion. At 15, he became a burgher of the Transvaal and a year later was the owner of two farms, one for sowing and the other for grazing. Married at the age of 17 to Maria du Plessis, he was a widower only four years later. In 1847, he wed Gezina du Plessis, a cousin of his late wife, with whom – during a 54-year marriage – he had no fewer than 16 children and 120 grandchildren.


    Kruger’s daring as a young man was legendary. His retrieval of the body of Piet Potgieter, son of Hendrik, after the massacre of Boer women and children at the hands of the Ndebele chief, Mokopane (Makapan), and his exploits as a hunter – especially blowing off part of his left thumb and cutting off the rest with his pocket knife in trying to escape from a wounded rhinoceros – was the stuff of Boer fable. Commandant-general of the ZAR at the age of 39, he became president when the republic regained its independence from Britain in 1883, and was re-elected no fewer than four times. A huge, ugly, rough-hewn character of gloomy disposition and uncouth manners, he was – to the world outside – the personification of the Afrikaner people.


    As a devout member of the ultra-conservative Dopper church, Kruger would rise for prayers each morning at 4 am. Despite having had little formal education, he also was a lay preacher. An inveterate pipe smoker, he liked holding court, Bible at his side, on the front stoep of his modest, single-storey house in central Pretoria, dispensing advice to any burgher who sought it.


    Despite his reputation for intransigence, Kruger was an extremely canny and adroit politician who frequently displayed a flexibility of mind and a willingness to adapt to changing circumstances. On one matter, though, he was unbending: the need to preserve the character of the Boer republic. As CT Gordon aptly puts it: ‘Preservation of the independence of the state he regarded as a sacred duty, neglect of which would bring down upon him the curse of God.’2


    On racial questions, Kruger shared the prejudices of his fellow burghers (and most Uitlanders too): the franchise was the preserve of white males and could never be extended to people of colour. Most Boers viewed the ‘natives’, with whom they clashed repeatedly over land, with hostility and regarded blacks primarily as a source of cheap labour. Yet Kruger was, in some respects, slightly more liberal than his Progressive critics, advocating civil marriages for ‘native’ people and the partial exemption of educated blacks from the restrictions of the pass laws – measures opposed by, among others, Louis Botha.3 At a public meeting in 1890, the president flatly refused to agree with a questioner who argued that blacks should have fewer legal rights than whites.4


    His rival for the presidency of the republic throughout the 1890s, and the informal leader of the opposition in the Volksraad, was the much-loved General Joubert. If Kruger was the first citizen of the ZAR, Joubert was the second.5 The popular commandant-general had been a member of the triumvirate that ran the Transvaal during the first Anglo-Boer War. He had also led Boer commandos against the British in several battles along the Natal border – including the rout of Colley and his men at Majuba.


    Despite his reputation as a warrior, Joubert was essentially a pacifist and political moderate, more interested in business and farming than in making war. Neither anti-English nor anti-Uitlander, he fervently wished to see all citizens of the Republic living together harmoniously.6 An insecure political leader, his moderate views were often diametrically opposed to those of Kruger, for whom he developed a deep-seated aversion. Among Joubert’s staunchest admirers was Lucas Meyer, and another of his supporters was Meyer’s protégé, Louis Botha.


    Dictatorial tendencies


    President Kruger understood, instinctively, that although gold had rescued his ZAR from financial disaster, the much sought-after mineral represented a threat to the Republic’s survival. Before long, the Uitlanders flooding into the Transvaal from all parts of the world would outnumber and – if given the franchise – outvote his Boers. British imperialism, then in a belligerent phase, was of constant concern to him. The way to counter the imperial power, he reckoned, was to build up the ZAR’s economic independence. That meant handing out monopolies and concessions to local companies and individuals to make and sell bricks, dynamite, liquor, leather and other essential consumer goods, all of which had to be protected by high tariffs.7


    As Giliomee observes, this protectionist policy made good sense for a predominantly agrarian society trying to develop its own manufacturing sector but not for a rapidly expanding, deep-level gold industry trying to keep down costs so as to be competitive on the world market. Kruger’s insistence on dishing out concessions and jobs to his (often incompetent) family, friends and supporters helped to make an already unhealthy system worse.8


    Discontent with the president’s dictatorial tendencies, resentment over the dynamite monopoly (especially) and other concessions, and anger at official corruption and maladministration had driven many younger, more forward-looking MPs in the direction of Joubert’s Progressives, who were never strong enough to threaten Kruger but whose members introduced a new and more broad-minded element into the gloomy and stuffy Volksraad. Among the Progressives’ brightest lights were Lucas Meyer, Koos de la Rey and Louis Botha. According to Engelenburg, in Botha’s first session as a member of the Volksraad, he spoke no fewer than 50 times – on subjects ranging from the iniquity of the diamond monopoly to ‘native’ policy, the fencing of farms and the leasing of government land. He also seconded a motion to grant members of the Volksraad an annual salary of £1 200.9


    A matter that gave rise to dissatisfaction among the Boers – especially incoming Cape Afrikaners seeking employment – was Kruger’s growing dependence upon officials imported from the Netherlands to run the public service, education and the railways. Without a pool of educated and experienced civil servants to draw on, the President had been forced to look to Europe for the skills required by his rapidly expanding administration. But the presence of these incomers, notable among them the highly efficient state attorney, Dr WJ Leyds, and their appointment ahead of home-grown Afrikaners gave rise to (politically exaggerated) resentment, as well as vociferous opposition in newspapers such as Land en Volk to ‘Hollander rule’.10


    Joubert wrote to one of his supporters that ‘I shall do what my hand finds to do for our beloved country – not only for independence from England – but also from the foreign unhealthy influence which is undermining our existence as a people, and our national character.’11 Botha, as we have seen, had already expressed to Joubert his own objection to the appointment of Hollanders instead of Afrikaners some years earlier.


    Crossing Kruger


    Unlike most of his fellow members of the Volksraad, the genial and sociable MP from Vryheid would often bring his and Annie’s family of five children – two girls, Helen and Frances, and three boys, Louis, Jantje and Philip – with him to Pretoria to enjoy the bright lights of the capital. One of the ZAR’s youngest public representatives, ‘with a small moustache and goatee amid that forest of beards’, he took no notice of the disapproval of the black-frocked Calvinist element in the Volksraad, who frowned upon his enjoyment of dancing and accordion-playing. As Engelenburg notes, in Pretoria’s staid legislative circles such behaviour was regarded as ‘nothing less than offensive’.12 But Botha did not care; what really mattered to him was opposing official maladministration, the inadequacies of the education system and rampant corruption.


    Though always respectful of the president, Botha was mindful of Kruger’s limitations and had the self-confidence to cross the much older man occasionally in debate. He was particularly outspoken in his criticism of the lucrative and unpopular dynamite concession. Kruger had given sole rights to the manufacture of dynamite for the mines to a private company in Modderfontein, whose plant rapidly became the biggest in the world. Botha agreed with the mine owners that the monopoly was highly undesirable and supported the argument that explosives should be freely imported if production costs were to be kept down.13


    In the anxious days of 1899, with war with the imperial power a possibility, the Volksraad appointed the MP for Vryheid to a commission examining the dynamite concession. Finding that the government had bound itself so closely to the concessionaires that it would be unwise, at such an unpropitious time, to terminate the monopoly, Botha raised eyebrows by abruptly reversing his previous stance. For making this U-turn, he was castigated by some sections of the pro-mine-owner, anti-Kruger press.14


    Kruger’s tactics


    In Volksraad debates, the domineering Kruger was used to doing as he pleased. His modus operandi was to declare his intentions in a loud booming voice, and, if there was any opposition, to furiously denounce the dissenting members. He spoke as often as he liked, until a measure was put before the assembly to limit him to one speech per debate. After he made it known that, as president, he would take no notice of the restriction, however, the bill was quietly shelved.15


    If Kruger could not get his own way, his usual tactic was to threaten resignation. Once, when he did so, a mischievous Botha promptly rose and proposed that his resignation be accepted. A lively debate ensued during which the president was forced to back down. Thereafter, he was much more circumspect about offering his resignation.16


    The Jameson Raid, aptly described by De Kiewiet as ‘inexcusable in its folly and unforgivable in its consequences’,17 had revived the flagging political fortunes of the elderly president, who turned 70 in the year of the Raid. The fallout from Jameson’s recklessness carried Kruger to a resounding victory in the presidential election three years later. By then, he had become convinced that to give in to Uitlander demands would be the thin end of the wedge. In the meantime, his calm and measured response to the Raid – and refusal to have its leaders shot, as Botha and other hotheads had demanded – elevated him to a figure of world renown, a hero to those in Europe and elsewhere who detested British imperialism. Knightly honours, which he wore proudly on ceremonial occasions, were bestowed upon him by Portugal, the Netherlands, Belgium and France.


    Sensing in his bones that another war with Britain was inevitable, Kruger began – with the help of a decidedly reluctant Joubert – to spend gold revenues freely on rearming the ZAR with the best and most modern weaponry, imported from Germany and France. By 1899, the republic was armed to the teeth. The President had also reformed his administration by bringing in younger, well-educated Afrikaners, among them Jan Smuts as state attorney, and widening his circle of advisers to include Marthinus Steyn, president of the Orange Free State. In 1897, Kruger’s ZAR and Steyn’s Free State entered into an alliance to come to each other’s aid in the event of war.


    Milner’s intent


    Kruger’s unease about Britain’s intentions was well founded. Joseph Chamberlain, the Conservative government’s colonial secretary, was an avowed imperialist who believed that consolidating the Empire was essential to Britain’s survival as a great power. In 1897, he sent another ardent empire-builder, Alfred Milner, to the Cape as governor of the Cape Colony and high commissioner in South Africa. Milner’s idealistic vision was to bring the whole country under British rule as soon as possible, and to add South Africa to a white, English-speaking federation of Britain, Australia and Canada, run by an imperial parliament in London.


    The disastrous fallout from the Jameson Raid had made Chamberlain wary, for a time, of acting upon Uitlander grievances and intervening in the internal affairs of the Transvaal. But the impatient Milner had no such scruples. After Kruger’s re-election by an overwhelming majority in 1898, Milner wrote to Chamberlain to say that he saw ‘no way out of the political troubles of South Africa except reform in the Transvaal or war’.18 Determined to force the pace before an economically flourishing ZAR could extend its republican influence over the whole of South Africa, he encouraged the Uitlanders to send London a petition, bearing more than 21 000 signatures, setting out their grievances with the Kruger government, particularly over the franchise qualifications and the dynamite monopoly.


    Kruger had already lowered some of the franchise requirements in response to demands from Progressives in the Volksraad, who argued that Uitlander demands for the vote at the cost of their British citizenship was an elaborate bluff. But the President and his supporters believed otherwise. By their estimate, there were more white foreigners in the ZAR than there were Boers. By agreeing to the Uitlanders’ franchise demands, they would be putting their own republic at risk.


    In a last-ditch effort to ward off armed conflict, President Steyn invited Kruger and Milner and their advisers to a meeting in Bloemfontein. Kruger offered to reduce the residential qualification for Uitlanders from fourteen to seven years, but Milner was unmoved. According to Hyam, he saw the coming war as a ‘great game between the Transvaal and ourselves for the mastery of South Africa, the game of uniting South Africa as a British State’.19 Accordingly, he demanded that the Transvaal surrender its sovereignty and agree to make its laws subject to British approval. ‘It’s our country you want,’ a tearful Kruger claimed despairingly.20
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